

POTENTIAL LIMITATIONS OF MARGINAL PRICING FOR A POWER SYSTEM BASED ON RENEWABLES

TECHNICAL PAPER 3/2022 BY XAVIER GARCIA-CASALS AND EMANUELE BIANCO

© IRENA 2022

Unless otherwise stated, material in this publication may be freely used, shared, copied, reproduced, printed and/or stored, provided that appropriate acknowledgement is given of the author(s) as the source and IRENA as the copyright holder. Material in this publication attributed to third parties may be subject to separate terms of use and restrictions, and appropriate permissions from these third parties may need to be secured before any use of such material.

ISBN xxx

Citation: Garcia-Casals, X., and E. Bianco (2022), *Potential limitations of marginal pricing for a power system based on renewables*, International Renewable Energy Agency, Abu Dhabi.

About IRENA

The International Renewable Energy Agency (IRENA) serves as the principal platform for international co-operation, a centre of excellence, a repository of policy, technology, resource and financial knowledge, and a driver of action on the ground to advance the transformation of the global energy system. An intergovernmental organisation established in 2011, IRENA promotes the widespread adoption and sustainable use of all forms of renewable energy, including bioenergy, geothermal, hydropower, ocean, solar and wind energy, in the pursuit of sustainable development, energy access, energy security and low-carbon economic growth and prosperity. **www.irena.org**

Acknowledgements

This technical paper was written by Xavier Garcia-Casals and Emanuele Bianco under the guidance of Rabia Ferroukhi (Director, IRENA Knowledge, Policy and Finance Centre). It benefited from the reviews and comments of Lucio Scandizzo (University of Rome Tor Vergata), Natalia Fabra (Universidad Carlos III de Madrid), Álvaro López-Peña (ALP-Sustainable Energy), Jose Luis Garcia Ortega (Greenpeace Spain), Deepak Krishnan (World Resources Institute-India), Alexandros Fakas Kakouris and Léa Hayez (Renewables Grid Initiative), Steven Vanholme (EKOenergy ecolabel), Joyce Lee (Global Wind Energy Council), Dietmar Preinstorfer (E-Control), Karim Megherbi (Dii Desert Energy), Savvas Seimanides (European Renewable Energies Federation), Rainer Hinrichs-Rahlwes (BEE-e.V., European Renewable Energies Federation), Silvia Piana (ENEL Green Power), Michele Mauro (ENEL), Shalu Agrawal (Council on Energy, Environment and Water, India), Virginia Echinope (Ministerio de Industria, Energía y Minería, Uruguay) and Paul Komor (IRENA).

For further information or to provide feedback: publications@irena.org

Disclaimer

The views expressed in this publication are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views or policies of IRENA. This publication does not represent IRENA's official position or views on any topic.

The Technical Papers series are produced as a contribution to technical discussions and to disseminate new findings on relevant topics. Such publications may be subject to comparatively limited peer review. They are written by individual authors and should be cited and described accordingly.

The findings, interpretations and conclusions expressed herein are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the opinions of IRENA or all its Members. IRENA does not assume responsibility for the content of this work or guarantee the accuracy of the data included herein.

Neither IRENA nor any of its officials, agents, data or other third-party content providers provides a warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied, and they accept no responsibility or liability for any consequence of use of the publication or material herein. The mention of specific companies, projects or products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended, either by IRENA or the author(s). The designations employed and the presentation of material herein do not imply the expression of any opinion on the part of IRENA or the author(s) concerning the legal status of any region, country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of frontiers or boundaries.

CONTENTS

BASIC CONCEPTS	6
ABOUT THIS TECHNICAL PAPER	7
1. INTRODUCTION	9
2. WHOLESALE MARGINAL PRICING IN POWER MARKETS AND ITS IMPEDIMENTS FOR A POWER SYSTEM BASED ON RENEWABLES	. 13
2.1 Marginal pricing markets during the fossil fuel era and the early phases of the energy transition	13
2.2 Impact of spikes in natural gas price (late-2021 through early-2022 and beyond)	15
2.3 With increasing penetration of VRE	19
2.4 Power system based on VRE (simplified)	. 20
2.5 Power system based on VRE (more nuanced)	22
3. CONCLUDING REMARKS	. 25
REFERENCES	. 26

FIGURES

Figure 1	The dual procurement concept1	0
Figure 2	The two pillars of dual procurement1	1
Figure 3	Marginal pricing power markets in the fossil fuel era and early stages of the energy transition (low VRE shares)	.4
Figure 4	Marginal pricing markets affected by fossil fuel price spikes	7
Figure 5	Growing difference in marginal cost of technologies participating in wholesale electricity market	.8
Figure 6	VRE deployment displacing FF generation on a marginal pricing market (simplified) 2	1
Figure 7	Marginal pricing market operating in a VRE power system (simplified)	2
Figure 8	Marginal pricing market operating in a VRE power system (more nuanced)	4

BOXES

Box 1	IRENA's dual procurement proposal1	0

ABBREVIATIONS

CAPEX	capital expenditure (investments	GC	green certificates
CfD	contracts for differences	LCOE	levelised cost of electricity (covering life-cycle costs of generation, including OPEX and CAPEX)
CSP	concentrated solar power	MC	marginal costs
DIRE	dispatchable renewable electricity generation (CSP, biomass, hydro with reservoir)	МР	marginal price: In a marginal market it is set by the most expensive bid needed to cover the demand (clearing bid)
EF	flexibility resources, including DiRE, demand response, demand-side management, storage, power plants operated with green hydrogen, and other energy system integration elements	ос	opportunity costs
		O&M	operation and maintenance costs
		OPEX	operating expenditure
		PPA	power purchase agreement
FiP	feed in premium	PV	photovoltaics
FIT	feed in tariff	VRE v g	variable renewable electricity
FF	fossil fuels		generation (PV, wind,)
FF-base	base load fossil fuel electricity generation	WACC	weighted average cost of capital

FF-peak peaking fossil fuel electricity generation providing flexibility

The following graphical elements are used in the simplified figures presented in this Technical Paper (VRE = variable renewable energy; DiRE = dispatchable renewable energy; EF-other = other energy flexibility; FF-base = base fossil fuel power generation; FF-peak = peak fossil fuel power generation):



BASIC CONCEPTS

This section introduces some basic concepts about marginal pricing markets to make the discussion in this Technical Paper accessible to a wider readership.

In a marginal pricing market,¹ participants bid at the marginal $cost^2$ (MC). The (short term) marginal $cost^3$ is constituted by the operation and maintenance $costs^4$ (O&M-OPEX) plus the opportunity cost (OC), which represents revenues foregone by not selling the electricity at another point in time or market. Opportunity costs may also include the requirement to recover life-cycle costs through limited participation in the power system, such as those that may drive price bids during scarcity events.⁵ In most cases, the marginal cost consists primarily of O&M costs and hence is below the LCOE, which also includes capital expenditures (CAPEX): MC < LCOE. For plants operating on variable renewable energy (which are CAPEX dominated), the difference between the marginal cost and the LCOE is higher than for fossil fuel plants.

In a marginal pricing market, all participants are rewarded at the clearing price, which is the marginal cost of the most expensive bid needed to meet demand fully. Therefore, the clearing generator is rewarded at its $MC_{clearing}$ = MP, but all the other generators contributing to supply the demand at this point in time are retributed with a price above their marginal cost (MP > MC_{other}). The differential between the MP and the MC is what should allow generators to recover its CAPEX and earn a profit.⁶ Generators' profits, in turn, are the signal that should enable investments to guarantee power system adequacy.⁷

VRE presents three distinct characteristics regarding its participation in a marginal pricing market: 1) its OPEX and OC – and thus its marginal cost – are very low; 2) its cost structure is heavily dominated by CAPEX; and 3) its generation cannot be increased beyond natural resources availability.

To operate succesfully, all participants⁸ in a marginal pricing market must recover the LCOE (including profits⁹) over the plant's lifetime; otherwise there is no business model and no investments would be committed. Clarity on the prospect of cost recovery has a direct impact on perceived risks, which in turn are linked to financing costs: If the market does not provide a clear path to cost recovery, financing costs and LCOE increase.¹⁰

¹ In a "marginal pricing market" the price is set by the bid from the last unit needed to cover the demand, with the price-setting bid being driven by the marginal cost of the last unit. But markets can be designed in different ways, with prices being driven by either marginal costs or average costs. In a short-term market (such as current wholesale electricity markets), generators decide whether to produce or not; hence, the market price is driven by the marginal cost. In a long-term market (i.e. competition takes place before investments are made), such as the long-term pillar of the dual procurement proposal (see Box-1), generators decide whether to invest or not; hence, the market price is driven by the average cost of production (LCOE).

² Note that in imperfect markets (imperfect competition), when some participants have market power and use it, their bids may add a mark-up on top of O&M and main opportunity cost. This bid's mark-up may be understood as an extension of the opportunity costs component, and represents a distortion in market operation.

³ In this Technical Paper, when we refer to the marginal cost (MC) we always mean the short-term, short-run MC.

⁴ Which eventually would include the impact of carbon prices in FF-based generation.

⁵ A scarcity event occurs when demand exceeds available regular generation, requiring more expensive forms of generation to be called in. Since the more expensive generation clears the market, it sets the marginal price under these circumstances.

⁶ Note, however, that there is no guarantee that the differential between MP and MC across the lifetime of the plant will be able to fulfil the goals of CAPEX recovery and targeted profit generation. There is no "magic" in the market: the marginal cost of the marginal technology is unrelated to the average costs of the various generation technologies.

⁷ However, there is no guarantee this will occur. Whether these short-run price signals manage to encourage the investments needed for security of supply will depend on many factors, including its predictability. Relying on short-run price signals fundamentally unrelated to the life-cycle costs of the technologies needed for system adequacy may be a risky approach. The situation is still more critical when a fundamental overhaul of the power system, such as that involved in moving from fossil fuels to renewables, is at stake. Dual procurement (Box-1) proposes a more direct and efficient way to guarantee system adequacy.

⁸ Well, in fact all participants that survive the constraints imposed by this organizational structure. Those participants that do not manage to recover LCOE and generate profits must withdraw from the market because their permanence in it would be unsustainable. In this sense, the organizational structure constitutes a filter for what participants can remain in the game, and this filter does not necessarily align with the social value that potential participants could provide.

⁹ The LCOE includes profits as an adequate rate of return on invested capital through the WACC component.

¹⁰ Financing difficulties become barriers to entry as smaller players are unable to fund their investments with their balance sheet. This in turn underpins power dynamics that prevent maximizing the social benefits from the transition.

ABOUT THIS TECHNICAL PAPER

This technical paper focuses on the aspects of marginal pricing that can become problematic during the transition and for a renewables-based power system. The paper is best understood as an extension of previous work (IRENA, 2020 and 2022a) on the challenges of adapting the organisational structures of the power system to the transition to an renewables-based power system. IRENA (2022a), in particular, delves into the systemic nature of the transition, with dynamics reaching far beyond market mechanisms to include social, political, administrative, environmental, and business-related aspects.

Although IRENA generally uses the term 'organisational structures' to include both liberalised and regulated systems and to convey the idea that even in liberalised systems the organisational structure goes beyond wholesale markets (e.g. additional regulated payments, public and corporate auctions), this technical paper focuses on liberalised markets.

In an electricity procurement structure based on marginal pricing, all generation is rewarded at the price offered by the most costly generator needed to meet demand. Marginal pricing of electricity has been successfully applied to the procurement of electricity for the last decades.¹¹

In most of today's power systems, marginal pricing is used to procure electricity – including most of the resources required for flexibility – under a single structure. This has worked well where the technologies used were not vastly different in terms of their techno-economic characteristics. But when transitioning towards a renewables-based power system, the techno-economic characteristics of its two main components (bulk renewable generation and flexibility) diverge significantly from each other and from those of the dominant technologies in fossil fuel power systems. It is in this context that marginal pricing misalignments arise.¹² The misalignments discussed below arise for the most part when applying marginal pricing to the procurement of all, or almost all, electricity under one single structure – that is, when using the same mechanism to procure renewable generation and flexibility.

This does not mean that marginal pricing cannot or should not continue to play a significant role for renewablebased power systems, but its role needs to be adjusted to the characteristics of the involved technologies. In IRENA's proposal for a way forward in power system organisational structures (dual procurement) marginal pricing is considered as an important component for the flexibility pillar, but is not used for the other pillar (procurement of bulk RE generation). By separating the procurement of these two main services (renewable generation and flexibility), most of the current misalignments can be prevented. See Box-1 and (IRENA, 2020, 2022a) for further details.

This paper explores the fundamental reasons why marginal pricing is problematic as the main and only element of power system organizational structures, both during the transition and once the transition would be completed. There are two main reasons.

¹¹ Economic theory has underpinned the choice of marginal pricing in most markets for uniform / undifferentiated products. An ideal marginal market maximises (economic) welfare for society, i.e. consumer surplus + producer surplus; incentivises producers to bid their actual variable costs (avoiding uncompetitive behaviors); generates the adequate investment signals for market participants; and creates incentives to innovate and improve technology to increase efficiency and reduce production costs. However, besides markets never being ideal, the capability of approaching these performances depends on the technoeconomic characteristics of the technologies underpinning the power system, and during the energy transition these are bound to experience a radical change (from fossil fuel-era to renewable energy-era).

¹² Note for instance that the MC of a price setting technology (such as a flexibility resource) is completely unrelated to the average costs of technologies providing the bulk of electricity in a renewable-based power system (VRE), with a cost structure (CAPEX-dominated) very different from most generation during the fossil fuel-era.

The first is related to merit order and cannibalisation effects, which reduce rewards to generators using variable renewable energy (VRE) as the transition advances, evolving towards marginal prices close to the O&M costs of VRE, which are a very small fraction of the life-cycle costs of these technologies.

Bids are ordered by its marginal price from lower to higher (merit order). Hence, as VRE penetration increases more expensive bids are left out of the dispatch or see a reduction of volume being dispatched and clearing prices reduce (merit order effect). Since the merit order effects take place when VRE generate, VRE technologies are the most affected by the reduction in clearing prices, hence disproportionately reducing its revenues from the market as the VRE share is increased (cannibalisation effect).

A corollary of this misalignment is the potential dynamic with existing VRE generators. In order to recover life-cycle costs under the current wholesale market structure, existing VRE generators need fossil fuel generators to remain in the system (so that they can clear higher marginal prices), and hence have an incentive to block the shift to higher VRE shares (barrier to new VRE entrants).

The currently high (due to fossil fuel price spikes) windfall gains of the infra-marginal producers¹³ (especially renewable generators) and the future missing money for renewable energy generation (due to merit order and cannibalisation effects) are two sides of the same coin. Under the current organisational structure the marginal cost of the marginal technology is unrelated to the average costs of the various generation technologies. Currently, infra-marginal technologies earn windfalls because the marginal price is set by expensive gas plants, while in the future renewables under the current organizational structure would suffer losses since market prices would converge towards their own marginal cost, preventing them from recovering their average costs.

Another mechanism, far less discussed, is the socio-political dynamic triggered by marginal pricing in a context where the difference in marginal costs of the participating technologies is substantial. This mechanism is likely to be triggered even before the merit order and cannibalisation effects become significant. In fact, under the current (2022) crisis of electricity price in Europe it is on full display. It is hence important to learn from the experience of the European electricity prices crisis, understanding its structural drivers and how they can replicate during the transition, so that additional barriers can be prevented.

¹³ Infra-marginal producers are all those that, for a given point in time, bid below the clearing bid and hence will be rewarded at a marginal price above its marginal cost.

1. INTRODUCTION

IRENA has been working for a decade on the organisational challenges of integrating higher shares of generation based on variable renewable electricity (VRE) into the power system. Early work focused on the challenges for liberalised power markets (IRENA, 2014, 2017). But it soon became evident that a wider approach was needed - one encompassing both liberalised and non-liberalised contexts and actively addressing misalignments so as to arrive at structures that are right for the renewable energy era. A holistic approach to the transition requires recognising its systemic nature, where various embedded systemic layers (power system, energy system, economy, society, Earth) interact to produce final outcomes (IRENA, 2020, 2022a).

Important misalignments in the power system layer stem from the marginal pricing mechanisms established during the fossil fuel era as the main procurement structure in virtually all power systems. Some of these misalignments – namely the merit order and cannibalisation effects described in the previous section – and their potential to become transition barriers have been well known for some time. Proposals to address them have ranged from adjustments to the current organisational structures to more structural changes.¹⁴ Most of the structural proposals to address these misalignments are consistent with IRENA's proposal for dual procurement of renewable generation and flexibility (IRENA, 2020, 2022a).

To date, however, action to address these misalignments has been limited, focusing chiefly on fixes to the marginal pricing mechanism. Some of these fixes have reinforced transition barriers, such as capacity remuneration mechanisms for fossil fuel plants that risk locking in such plants for decades (IRENA, 2022a). In fact, although evidence of these misalignments has been slowly permeating the discussion, it is not until very recently that the marginal pricing mechanism itself has been questioned (ACER, 2022; DBEIS, 2022).

The prevailing policy narrative is still disconnected from the underlying misalignments. Current policy action often pursues the gradual or rapid elimination of additional regulated payments for renewable generation and encourages the development of VRE under existing (short-term) marginal pricing markets (merchant plants), despite evidence of the high relevance of long-term procurement mechanisms to support a sustainable deployment of renewables - be it through corporate or auctioned power purchase agreements (PPA) (IRENA, 2019), feed-in tariffs (FiT), contracts for differences (CfD) or others.

The high electricity prices experienced since mid-2021, driven chiefly by increases in natural gas prices exacerbated by the war in Ukraine, have opened a window of opportunity for discussing the current suitability of the marginal pricing mechanism.

The recent statement of the President of the European Commission marked a clear turning point in this respect. "This market system no longer works", said Ursula von der Leyen in early June 2022; "It was designed 20 years ago when renewable energies began to enter the mix. We ... must adapt it to the new realities of the dominant renewable energy sources".¹⁵

¹⁴ See, for example: (Barroso et al., 2021; Bhagwat and Meeus, 2019; Blazquez et al., 2018; Brown and Reichenberg, 2021; Batlle et al., 2021; DBEIS, 2022; Hogan, 2022; Joskow, 2019; Kanellakopoulou and Trabesinger, 2022; Keay and Robinson, 2017; Keay-Bright and Day, 2021; Nelson et al., 2017; Ofgem, 2022; Peng and Poudineh, 2017; Pototschnig et al., 2022; Robinson, 2022; Robinson and Keay, 2020; Vazquez et al., 2002).

¹⁵ See, for example: (Agence Europe, 2022; ePrimefeed, 2022; Energate Messenger, 2022; Prospero Events Group, 2022; Simon and Kurmayer, 2022).

Box 1 IRENA's dual procurement proposal

One of the main sources of misalignments in wholesale electricity markets based on marginal pricing is the use of a single mechanism to procure two very different products: bulk renewable electricity and flexibility. By procuring both products using the same mechanism their different techno-economic characteristics cannot be properly honored, such that the huge difference in their respective marginal prices triggers perverse socio-political dynamics that ultimately increase the barriers to the energy transition.

In its dual procurement concept (IRENA, 2020, 2022a), IRENA addresses the source of these misalignments by proposing to split procurement of VRE and flexibility into two different but coordinated mechanisms that consider the techno-economic characteristics of both.

Under a common umbrella, dual procurement has a long-term procurement mechanism for VRE and a short-term procurement mechanism for flexibility (Figure 1). The experience accumulated in recent decades on how to provide a stable framework for VRE, and how to match supply and demand in the short term, is reflected in the pillars of the dual procurement concept.

Figure 1 The dual procurement concept EXPERIENCE To provide a stable framework: To match supply and demand: • Support mechanisms (FiT, FiP, PPA) • Wholesale and retail markets • Direct public investment • Centralised system operator's dispatch **DUAL PROCUREMENT** Long-term procurement Short-term procurement Procuring Procuring **RENEWABLE POWER** FLEXIBILITY

Source: IRENA, 2022b.

Figure 2 presents the characteristics of the two main pillars of dual procurement: the long-term procurement of renewable bulk electricity (LT-RE) and the short-term procurement of flexibility (ST-Flex). In specific contexts it is possible that additional procurement components (such as long-term flexibility: LT-Flex) may be needed during the transition to complement the two principal pillars.

Marginal pricing still plays a prominent role in dual procurement, being the backbone of the ST-Flex pillar; but by limiting the scope of marginal pricing to that pillar and procuring bulk renewable generation through a differentiated mechanism under the LT-RE pillar, the source of the misalignments in the current wholesale electricity markets is avoided.



ST: short-term

The mechanisms used to date to support the deployment of renewables (feed-in tariffs, feed-in premiums, contracts for differences, auctioned power purchase agreements, corporate power purchase agreements, green certificates, and so on) have been made necessary by the inability of wholesale markets based on marginal pricing to support renewables-based power systems. These mechanisms, often implemented through additional regulated payments, have been wrongly associated with subsidies for renewables, meant to disappear as the costs of renewables fall. This sort of thinking ignores or obscures the underlying misalignment. In the dual procurement proposal, the long-term procurement mechanisms become one of the main pillars of the organisational structure of the power system, making it clear that they are here to stay.

Further details are needed to adapt the dual procurement concept to different realities. See IRENA (2020, 2022a) for a full discussion.

Even with the growing acknowledgment of these misalignments, however, discussion and policy action seem to focus largely on the issue brought about by high natural gas prices (Tidey, 2022), and fail to address the remaining transition implications of these misalignments.

This technical paper aims to inform discussion and policy action around misalignments in marginal pricing, delving into the barriers that organisational structures based on marginal pricing may pose for the transition to and successful operation of a power system based on renewables. It explores how renewables can die of success (through cannibalisation and merit order effects), how price volatility may increase, and how socio-political tensions can be aggravated by the current organisational structures.

A single procurement mechanism based on marginal pricing such as the one used in today's wholesale market to procure both renewable generation and flexibility does not seem appropriate either during the transition or after it.

IRENA's dual procurement proposal (Box 1) is a step forward, providing the basis for discussion of organisational structures suitable for a power system based on renewables. Under dual procurement marginal pricing is still considered the main component of the flexibility procurement pillar. Misalignments are directly addressed by acknowledging and honouring the distinct characteristics of bulk renewable generation and flexibility, procuring each under differentiated but coordinated pillars (IRENA, 2020, 2022a).

Simplified conceptual graphs are used in this technical paper to facilitate focusing on the fundamental concepts and support an inclusive discussion. The reality of power system operation, both in the fossil fuel era and in the renewable energy era is far more nuanced. But successful organisational structures for the power sector require effective and informed socio-political involvement.

This paper addresses the characteristics of marginal pricing markets and their unsuitability for a renewablesbased power system. This is done in a sequential way and illustrated by simplified graphs.

The next section forms the core of this technical paper. It focuses on the operation of wholesale marginal pricing mechanisms in the power sector and the barriers they pose for a successful and thorough energy transition. To facilitate the understanding of the source of misalignments, and how they relate with the current crisis of electricity prices in Europe, the text takes the reader through the fossil fuel era, the current spike in natural gas prices, and the transition to a power system based on renewables.

2. WHOLESALE MARGINAL PRICING IN POWER MARKETS AND ITS IMPEDIMENTS FOR A POWER SYSTEM BASED ON RENEWABLES

This section presents the sources of misalignments in wholesale marginal pricing power markets when applied to renewables-based power systems. To better understand these misalignments and how they can be expected to impact the energy transition, the reader is gradually taken from the recent past (fossil fuel era) all the way to power systems fully based on renewables, including the current (2022) price spikes due to natural gas price increases.

2.1 MARGINAL PRICING MARKETS DURING THE FOSSIL FUEL ERA AND THE EARLY PHASES OF THE ENERGY TRANSITION

Marginal pricing markets (wholesale market) have been the fundamental organisational structure for power systems in liberalised contexts for the past 2-3 decades.¹⁶ Even in many centrally-planned contexts, marginal pricing is fundamental in the procurement of electricity.

In a marginal pricing market, the market clearing generator sets the marginal price (MP) for all the electricity produced at each point in time. The difference between the marginal price and the marginal cost (MC) (mostly OPEX) of the non-clearing generators, when accumulated over the lifetime of the plants, enables capital expenditures to be recovered and produces profits.¹⁷ Hence, stability and predictability of the resulting marginal prices are needed to ensure sufficient investment and power system adequacy.¹⁸

Figure 3 presents a schematic of the operation of marginal pricing in a power system with small shares of variable renewable energy (VRE). Two operational situations are presented:

Under regular circumstances (A in Figure 3):

- Efficient base fossil fuel generation (such as combined cycle gas turbines) is the clearing technology. As such, it determines the marginal price. Because this marginal price is equal to the generator's marginal cost (mainly OPEX), it does not permit the generator to recover its CAPEX.¹⁹
- Less-efficient fossil fuel plants (peaking plants such as open cycle gas turbines) do not receive wholesale market payments under these circumstances because they are not needed to meet demand.

¹⁶ Of course, accompanied by strong regulatory components to guide its operation. Indeed, the theory of marginal pricing markets is far from reality, with market imperfections and externalities at play in real setups. Moreover, alignment with social value creation requires harnessing and guiding the profit motive underlying market operation. In some jurisdictions, parallel procurement structures based on long-term contracts (auctioned public or private PPAs) have evolved to cover a significant share of the demand, especially since the energy transition began.

¹⁷ The prospect of making profits is what drives investment in these plants. It should also generate economic incentives for cost reduction, efficiency, technological improvement and innovation.

¹⁸ With greater uncertainty, higher returns would be needed to trigger investment, translating into the need for higher prices to provide these returns. But since the marginal pricing mechanism that should deliver these prices is the very source of uncertainty, in an energy transition context important barriers can be anticipated, affecting the rate of deployment.

¹⁹ In any case, for these fossil fuel plants the OPEX is an important component of its overall costs.

VRE contributes to cover the demand with a very low MC.²⁰ Thus, if VRE participates in the market, it
receives a significant differential between the MP and its MC. If the VRE does not receive additional
regulated payments (it is a merchant plant), that differential between MP and MC allows these generators
to recover their CAPEX.²¹

Under scarcity events (B in Figure 3), triggered either by an increase in demand, a reduction of VRE generation, or both:

- VRE and fossil fuel base generation cannot cover demand fully, and fossil fuel peak plants are included in the dispatch.
- Fossil fuel peak plants bid at a higher price in the wholesale market, because their OPEX is higher than that of base plants and they operate for a small part of the year, during which time they need to recover their CAPEX.²²
- For fossil fuel base plants, the differential between their MC and the MP in these scarcity events makes it possible to recover CAPEX and turn a profit.
- VRE generation receives a higher differential between MC and MP, further contributing to recovery of its CAPEX and the generation of profits.

Figure 3 Marginal pricing power markets in the fossil fuel era and early stages of the energy transition (low VRE shares)

Situation under regular circumstances (A) and scarcity events (B) .



It could be said that marginal pricing makes for a rather convoluted organisational structure, since for each plant participating in the power system cost recovery is dependent on the difference between its marginal cost and the marginal price cleared by more expensive technologies and on how often these high marginal prices occur over the plant's lifetime.

When differences between plants' marginal costs are high (such as between fossil fuels and VRE), this organisational structure is also likely to trigger complex socio-political dynamics that can ultimately compromise the proper operation of the system. For instance, the fact that VRE with very low marginal cost is rewarded at a marginal price much higher than their marginal cost can unleash socio-political unrest. Communication plays a huge role in these dynamics.

²⁰ The MC can become even negative if these plants are receiving additional regulated payments outside the wholesale market, such as FiP or green certificates. In the early stages of use of VRE in power systems, the LCOE of VRE plants was high, and hence they received regulated support (FiT, PPA, subsidies...). VRE generation had priority of supply and hence was exogenously introduced in the dispatch.

²¹ For VRE its overall cost structure is strongly dominated by its CAPEX (relatively very small OPEX).

²² To avoid very high bids from these marginal plants (above their O&M), the wholesale marginal pricing market should be complemented with CRM.

Furthermore, if the government's messaging tends to equate the marginal cost of VRE as bid in the wholesale market with its LCOE, people may have a hard time understanding why they do not benefit more from these low marginal costs and why these apparently high profits are allowed to flow to VRE plant operators.²³ This, in turn, can lead (and has led) to policy action to curtail windfall profits for VRE generators,²⁴ increasing the unpredictability of how this organisational structure rewards new investments in VRE generation capacity, just when a significant increase in these investments is needed to address the climate challenge.

2.2 IMPACT OF SPIKES IN NATURAL GAS PRICE (LATE-2021 THROUGH EARLY-2022 AND BEYOND)

Figure 4 presents a simplified version of the change in wholesale power prices owing to a spike in fossil fuel prices such as that experienced in late 2021 and early 2022. Under these conditions, when fossil fuel plants are the clearing generators,²⁵ marginal prices of electricity rise significantly, reflecting the higher OPEX of fossil fuel plants, both under regular circumstances ('A' in Figure 4) and scarcity events ('B' in Figure 4).²⁶

For generators using technologies operating on natural gas:

- If the natural gas they use has been purchased at the current high prices, the higher electricity prices reflect higher OPEX; hence profits are similar to those earned under lower gas prices (Figure 3 and 'O' in Figure 4).
- If they operate using natural gas purchased earlier at lower cost (on either physical or financial markets using forward/futures contracts), what drives their higher bids is the opportunity cost of using that gas at its current prices. Hence its profits increase.

For VRE generators (and other non-clearing technologies whose opportunity cost is not affected by natural gas price increases):

- The difference between its marginal cost and the marginal price widens.
- If under lower natural gas prices (Figure 3) the differential between marginal price and marginal cost was enough to recover its total costs (OPEX and CAPEX) plus planned profits, the increase in natural gas prices (Figure 4) produces temporary windfall profits for these plants.
- But if under lower natural gas prices (Figure 3) the differential between marginal price and marginal cost was insufficient to recover total costs (OPEX and CAPEX) plus anticipated profits, the increase in natural gas prices (Figure 4) improves cost recovery for these plants.
- Therefore, this situation improves the business model of investors in VRE. The improvement can be
 justifiable from a social perspective²⁷ (if at the natural gas prices of Figure 3 total costs and benefit
 margins were not recovered), or not justifiable (speculative) if total costs and profit margin were already
 being recovered at lower natural gas prices (Figure 3). Often, the default policy response is to assume

²³ Even today, part of the VRE installed capacity has sold forward its electricity generation through public or private (corporate) PPAs and hence does not realise extra profit from high marginal prices, and contributes to overall price stabilisation. This is precisely what IRENA's dual procurement proposal does – but systematically rather than exceptionally (Box-1, IRENA [2020, 2022a]).

²⁴ Without taking into account that windfall profits are the other side of the coin of under-remuneration at other times; what matters is the balance between the two over the lifetime of the plants.

²⁵ It should, however, be noted that natural gas plants are not necessarily the clearing price technologies under these circumstances, because this situation opens the door to speculative behaviour by other market participants. For instance, operators of dispatchable renewable energy technologies (DiRE) - such as reservoir-fed hydropower - that also operate natural gas power plants, do have full details of the marginal costs from natural gas-fired plants and have a lot to gain by bidding hydro generation at a marginal cost just below that of gas-fired plants. Indeed, if natural gas plants are dispatched, the marginal price would be the same, but the profit margin for these operators would be small because they have to bear the burden of the high natural gas prices. However, if they manage to substitute gas-fired generation with hydro generation while keeping essentially the same marginal price linked to the marginal cost of natural gas plants, their profit margin widens substantially. For instance, when in early March 2022 wholesale electricity prices in Spain approached 700 EUR/MWh, the clearing technology was sometimes hydro generation with a marginal cost of 3 EUR/MWh at fully amortised plants.

²⁶ An additional effect of this price increase is a reduction in electricity demand, represented in Figure 4 by a decrease of total dispatched capacity. Under rather inelastic electricity demand as that represented in Figure 4, this effect is small, but under more elastic demand the reduction in total dispatched capacity would be higher.

²⁷ That is, if the improvement brings a rate of return on investment commensurate with the risks taken.

that VRE generators' higher revenues is unjustified (from a social perspective) and to introduce legislation or regulations to curtail the assumed windfall profits, ignoring the question of whether the wholesale market and its marginal pricing was (under lower natural gas prices) providing the right signal to VRE investors to deploy all the capacity needed to address the climate challenge.²⁸ This asymmetry – with policy makers failing to see and acknowledge the past and future shortcomings of the current organisational structure with respect to the technologies needed for the transition, but being quick to react against isolated increases in returns – is likely to create impediments to the transition.

Therefore, it may be concluded that the current situation in the wholesale market with very high natural gas prices need not, in and of itself, constitute a transition barrier. To the contrary, it could stimulate further investment in VRE and other transition technologies.²⁹ However, a transition barrier arises as a consequence of the resulting socio-political dynamics. Misguided policy action (i.e. castigating VRE for reaping windfall profits) may increase regulatory uncertainty and make it more difficult for VRE generators to recover their costs, and reduce the social licence for VRE deployment, thereby impeding the transition. Moreover, high natural gas prices within a non-'transition proofed' socio-political context could³⁰ stimulate additional private and public investments in natural gas extraction and natural gas infrastructure,³¹ thereby crowding out investment resources from the deployment of renewables and sustainable flexibility and locking-in additional fossil fuel infrastructure for decades.

For electricity users:

- Electricity prices increase significantly unless targeted policies are introduced to dampen and dilute this
 direct impact. Subsidies for producers or users must ultimately be passed along to users through taxes,
 although with the possibility of redistribution of impacts. Electricity price increases may also hamper
 investments in end-use equipment (electric vehicles, heat pumps,...), thereby impeding electrification of
 the energy system and raising yet another barrier to the transition.
- Proper communication is essential to prevent events like such natural gas price spikes from creating social impediments to the transition. If policy makers propagate the image of VRE producers receiving windfall profits and the myth that VRE has very low costs for the user, without making clear that marginal cost bids in wholesale markets do not reflect the dominant component of the VRE cost structure (CAPEX), this could set in motion a dynamic wherein investment in VRE falls behind the needs of the energy transition.³² Social approval for VRE deployment requires clarity on the question of whether windfall profits are being generated. The necessary clarity becomes difficult when comparing the situations in Figures 3 and 4: either in Figure 3 (former natural gas prices) VRE facilities were not being properly rewarded to cover their costs, or in Figure 4 (current natural gas price spikes) they are reaping windfall profits.

²⁸ One example of regulatory asymmetries in handling VRE generators' revenues would be one-sided/asymmetric contracts for differences (CfD), where VRE generators must return revenues above a marginal price threshold but are not compensated when marginal prices fall below the specified threshold. The focus should be on life-cycle revenues; in this sense higher and lower revenues are two sides of the same coin that ideally should compensate each other over the economic lifetime of the facility.

²⁹ Despite this higher differential between marginal price and marginal cost, the marginal pricing mechanism would still fail to provide the long-term certainty needed to unlock the required investment in VRE. The long term renewable energy pillar in the dual procurement proposal (Box 1, (IRENA (2020, 2022a))) aims to provide a definitive and stable response to this reality that to date has been provisionally addressed through regulated payments such as feed-in tariffs, contracts for differences and power purchase agreements.

³⁰ Indeed, this is already happening. It has gone as far as the EU declaring natural gas as green and sustainable energy in its taxonomy (early July 2022), and momentum building up for African countries to use its natural gas domestic resources to advance its economic development within a transition context.

³¹ Such as Liquified Natural Gas (LNG) terminals and storage facilities and natural gas pipelines.

³² See also the cost-price-value misalignment discussions in IRENA (2020, 2022a) for a better understanding of how the 'rise to the bottom' in costs and prices is often not the best approach to value creation.

Figure 4 Marginal pricing markets affected by fossil fuel price spikes

Situation before the price spikes (O); situation after the price spikes under regular circumstances (A) and scarcity events (B).



In any case, it is clear that the widening difference between the marginal costs of participating technologies under natural gas price spikes and those prevailing in the original situation when VRE started to enter the power system, exacerbates the problematic socio-political dynamics linked to the marginal pricing mechanism.

This is a direct consequence of the marginal pricing organisational structure itself, and it would take very good analysis, communication and policy to gain the social license to reward VRE generation at such high marginal prices compared with its marginal cost ('A' and 'B' in Figure 4). Experience has shown that the communication and policy skills needed to deal with this situation may not be available. Therefore, high differences in the marginal costs of the technologies participating in the wholesale market based on marginal pricing runs the risk of inducing problematic socio-political dynamics that may raise transition barriers or even endanger the operation of a power system based on VRE.

However, high differences in marginal cost are not limited to the current natural gas price spikes crisis. An analogous situation may be encountered during the transition and after the transition (Figure 5).

Indeed, the current increases in marginal prices for wholesale electricity are analogous to what would follow if the externalities of fossil fuel generation were properly internalised.³³ Introducing a higher carbon price would have the same effect as increases in natural gas prices (C in Figure 5). In fact, in late 2021 and early 2022, before the onset of the war in Ukraine, increases in the marginal price of wholesale electricity in Europe were driven by a combination of rising natural gas and carbon prices. In March 2022 this situation was exacerbated by further increases in natural gas prices owing to the war in Ukraine, but current carbon prices are still very low compared to those that would be needed to address the climate challenge.

³³ Carbon pricing in power system markets has been proposed as an option to prevent the 'missing money' problem the VRE experiences as its shares grow during the transition (Brown and Reichenberg, 2021). The point of introducing a carbon price is to make fossil fuel technologies less competitive and hence facilitate their displacement by renewables in a liberalised context. However, in a marginal pricing structure there would be a second direct effect of carbon pricing: to increase the difference between the marginal price and the marginal cost of inframarginal technologies (such as VRE), hence incentivising its deployment and compensating for the cannibalisation and merit order effects (missing money). In light of the current experience of high natural gas prices on electricity prices, care should be taken to manage the socio-political dynamics that might lead to actions to curtail additional profits for VRE generators (often interpreted as windfalls). Beyond the challenges posed by such socio-political dynamics, basing the deployment of renewables in the power sector on carbon pricing and marginal pricing markets could prove problematic during the transition (e.g. because of the need to continuously increase carbon prices as the clearing hours of fossil fuel technologies fall with the deployment of renewables) and leave the renewables-based power system exposed to an inappropriate structure once fossil fuels are phased out and carbon pricing no longer affects the marginal price.

Indeed, at a natural gas price of 100 EUR/MWh,³⁴ it would take a carbon price slightly above 300 EUR/tCO₂ to reach marginal costs of 300 EUR/MWh at a combined cycle power plant.³⁵ Even under the natural gas price cap for power generation in the Iberian exception³⁶ (Tidey, 2022), a carbon price slightly above 550 EUR/tCO₂ would be needed to produce electricity prices of 300 EUR/MWh. These levels of carbon pricing (300-550 EUR/tCO₂) are well within those needed to accelerate and complete the energy transition. Therefore a situation similar to the one that led to the electricity price crisis in Europe (A in Figure 5) could occur as we press on with the transition under the present organisational structure based on marginal pricing (C in Figure 5).³⁷ Moreover, a similar situation can be expected once the transition is complete if we insist in procuring all VRE generation and flexibility under the same marginal pricing market (D in Figure 5), since the flexibility resources will be pressed to bid at very high marginal cost in order to recover life-cycle costs over just few hours of operation (assuming the absence of additional capacity remuneration mechanisms).

The situation in Europe's electricity markets, which is the consequence of very high natural gas prices, has attracted a great deal of attention both from policy makers and the general public, which opens a window of opportunity to address structural issues with the current power system organisational structure. However, both policy makers and citizens (as a consequence of how the issue has been communicated to them) have placed nearly exclusive emphasis on lowering prices, failing to identify the structural pitfalls that can produce transition barriers.

Figure 5 Growing difference in marginal cost of technologies participating in wholesale electricity market

Before the natural gas price spikes of 2021-2022 (O); during the spikes (A); if the carbon price were increased to accelerate the transition, while recovering natural gas prices from before the spike (C); and if flexibility were procured using the same marginal pricing mechanisms as bulk VRE generation (D).



34 Which is significantly lower than prices experienced in March 2022, that reached 230 EUR/MWh.

- 35 300 EUR/MWh is the level of high electricity price that was regularly experienced in Spain during early 2022 and that sounded socio-political alarms.
- 36 Proposed by the Spanish and Portuguese governments (early April 2022) at 30 EUR/MWh, accepted by the EU at 50 EUR/MWh in May 2022, and applied since June 2022 at 40 EUR/MWh.
- 37 Unlike the high natural gas prices of 2022, the introduction of carbon prices leading to similar marginal prices of wholesale electricity would not incentivise additional investments in natural gas infrastructure, as the natural gas price spikes are doing in 2022.

2.3 WITH INCREASING PENETRATION OF VRE

As the energy transition advances, the share of VRE in the power system increases. That rising share triggers several dynamics that may raise transition barriers.

With an increasing share of renewables, lower bids clear the market, reducing the marginal price. This means that the differential between the marginal cost of VRE (its OPEX) and the cleared marginal price shrinks, and with it the capability of VRE generators to recover their CAPEX and produce profits. Over time, this will erode the business case for VRE, slowing down or halting its deployment.³⁸

Growing shares of VRE in the power system reduce the volume of electricity dispatched by fossil fuel plants. This, together with the marginal price depression mentioned above, decreases annual revenues for fossil fuel plants, potentially preventing them from recovering their LCOE. This triggers requests for additional payments (such as capacity remuneration mechanisms), which in turn can entrench fossil fuel generators into the power system, slowing down the deployment of non-fossil fuel flexibility.

Regarding the merit order and cannibalisation effects, increases in the price of natural gas and/or increases in carbon prices could reduce these effects to some extent – and might even neutralise them entirely.³⁹ Indeed, as shown in Figures 4 and 5, increases in natural gas and/or carbon prices result in a larger differential between the marginal price and the marginal cost of VRE, thereby increasing the capability of VRE facilities to recover their CAPEX.

With the appropriate differential between marginal price and marginal costs this could be true even if the number of hours during which fossil fuel technologies clear the market drops as VRE shares increase. In fact, a gradual increase of natural gas and carbon prices as VRE shares increase could theoretically compensate the merit order and cannibalisation effects until very large shares of VRE are achieved.

However, as mentioned above, the problem with such high prices goes beyond their immediate impact on consumers. The substantial difference in the marginal costs of the plants participating in the marginal market brings about a socio-political challenge. Exacerbated by poor communication about (and understanding of) how the marginal market works, and pressures from some incumbents, high prices cleared by fossil fuel electricity can easily⁴⁰ trigger policy action to curtail what are seen as the 'windfall profits' of VRE generators, insisting on the wrong narrative of linking the potential for low electricity prices from VRE to its low marginal cost bids in the wholesale market, thereby potentially killing the mechanism neutralizing the merit order and cannibalisation effects, and hence introducing transition barriers.⁴¹

Large differences in marginal costs across participating technologies make it difficult to strike a balance among 1) enabling VRE deployment, 2) preventing undue windfall profits and 3) gaining social licence for proceeding with the transition at the required pace. The source of such challenges is the prevailing organisational structure based on marginal pricing, highlighting the need to explore other options better suited for the transition.

³⁸ To address this issue (and protect users against price volatility), the dual procurement proposal (Box-1) makes the long-term procurement of renewables one of the main pillars of the power system's organisational structure. Corporations are already following this approach through corporate PPAs. The dual procurement proposal would extend these benefits to the entire power system.

³⁹ However, the larger the VRE share, the smaller the neutralising effect of higher costs in fossil fuel generation (increased fossil fuel costs or carbon prices). When 100% of the load is covered by renewables (as already seen in certain jurisdictions and periods), higher costs of fossil fuel generation have no impact on the resulting marginal price.

⁴⁰ As it has recently happened.

⁴¹ The goal of a generator is at minimum to recover life-cycle costs (and, for profit-driven investments, to meet profit targets). This calls for a life cycle vision in which today's windfall profits could be the piece that compensates tomorrow's underpayments due to merit order and cannibalisation effects.

2.4 POWER SYSTEM BASED ON VRE (SIMPLIFIED)

Eventually, as VRE capacity increases, it will completely displace fossil fuel plants from the market, phasing them out by the end of the energy transition (Figure 6).⁴²

Under these circumstances, since the clearing generator will be VRE with very low marginal costs, the marginal price will be very low (in fact almost zero). This is the idealised outcome that has been implanted in the public imagination by policy narratives about how low are VRE marginal cost bids in the wholesale market. The problem is that this situation is unsustainable. Indeed, at such low marginal prices, VRE generators will be unable to recover their CAPEX (the dominant component of their price structure), let alone turn a profit. Once this happens, the business case for investing in VRE will evaporate.

The impact would likely be felt before the transition is complete. When investors forecast revenues over a plant's lifetime, they would perceive a very high risk of not recovering their investments. This would significantly increase financing costs, eliminating any prospect of a low LCOE and slowing VRE deployments and the completion of the energy transition.

But assuming a complete transition in which VRE meets nearly all demand ('A' in Figure 7), electricity price volatility and compromised system adequacy would erode reliability. Figure 7 shows how this could play out. It splits the VRE used to meet demand into three groups of plants with similar technical and economic characteristics.

At the starting point ('A' in Figure 7) all VRE bids are at marginal cost,⁴³ leading to a very low marginal price. No VRE generator would be able to recover its CAPEX, let alone to turn a profit. The existing VRE plants would go bankrupt, since the revenues provided by the marginal price market would be much below whatever provision they had in their business case.⁴⁴

Still, due to their low marginal cost, these plants would likely keep operating until the end of their useful lifetimes, since any revenue they could earn from the wholesale market would be better than no revenue at all. This would likely lead VRE generators to pressure governments to reintroduce additional regulated payments such as feed-in tariffs, contracts for differences and power purchase agreements.⁴⁵ This is already happening for fossil fuel plants that have seen their business case eroded because of reduced operating hours. In any case, such a setup, with temporary fixes that failed to address the root cause of the existing misalignment, would eliminate any incentive for future investments in VRE generation because of the unfeasibility of producing any sound business case based on the marginal wholesale market revenues and the uncertainty of regulation and policy action. It would also reduce system performance and reliability because of the low maintenance consequence of reduced income. System adequacy would fall as the existing VRE plants reached the end of their useful lifetimes.

Once a block of VRE generation reaches the end of its lifetime (B in Figure 7), the existing VRE capacity would be unable to meet⁴⁶ the full load served under A (in Figure 7), placing the power system in a position of continuous scarcity.

⁴² The technical and economic feasibility of power systems based entirely on renewables has been demonstrated (Aghahosseini et al., 2020, 2019; Garcia-Casals, 2011, 2006, 2005; Jacobson et al., 2017; Ram et al., 2019, 2018, 2017), and in most cases the bulk of generation in these power systems comes from VRE.

⁴³ Because of the excess in VRE capacity, none of the plants would bid above their marginal cost (in effect their O&M costs), because doing so would exclude them from dispatch and they would receive no remuneration.

⁴⁴ If these plants had been developed using project finance, the business model used for its finance would have forecasted (based on higher wholesale market prices) a revenue flow sufficient to service the debt and produce profits.

⁴⁵ Introducing these regulated payments would conceptually be equivalent to moving towards the long-term renewable electricity procurement (LT-RE) from the dual procurement structure.

⁴⁶ Note that here comes to play another characteristic of VRE generation: its incapability to increase generation above what the natural resource (wind or sun) provides. This means that although VRE plants operate with low capacity factors (20–40% for wind; 15–30% for PV), it is not feasible to increase this capacity factors to cover the unmet load.

Figure 6 VRE deployment displacing FF generation on a marginal pricing market (simplified)





Under these circumstances, the last VRE block in the merit order curve would be able to significantly raise its bid up to the price users would be ready to pay at this level of overall load, producing a significantly higher marginal price. How high would depend on the inelasticity of demand. The OPEX from this VRE block would be the same as before, but its opportunity cost would rise and drive its marginal cost because of the deficit in recovering CAPEX through the wholesale marginal market.⁴⁷

The resulting marginal price would improve cost recovery for all VRE generators. However, the 'invisible hand' of the market cannot work magic: The resulting marginal price might be higher or lower than the one required to recover the costs of VRE generators. If it were higher, VRE generators would earn windfall profits; if lower, they would be unable to recover their CAPEX.⁴⁸

On top of this endogenous instability, it could be expected that misguided policy action, caused by an incorrect understanding of how marginal markets work or by a rebound from populistic⁴⁹ messages sent to citizens, would exacerbate the situation by reclaiming imaginary⁵⁰ windfall profits from VRE generators under B (in Figure 7).

If the net result of this turbulent dynamic were that the higher marginal price in B (Figure 7) enabled full cost recovery and profits for VRE generators, this would trigger investments in additional VRE capacity. With enough VRE capacity to cover all demand, generators' bids would once again reflect low marginal costs based on low OPEX. Hence the original situation would be recovered with very low clearing marginal prices and higher demand being met ('A2' in Figure 7).

Hence, the resulting dynamics could lead to volatility in price and served load, with both oscillating⁵¹ over VRE investment cycles (see the bottom part of Figure 7), leading to low overall system adequacy and reliability, and a regressive power system able to provide secure supply only to users capable of paying high prices.

⁴⁷ In less liberalised systems, generators are not allowed to bid, and the merit order curve is produced by the system operator on the base of declared and supervised costs (cost-based market design). In this context, an LCOE-based merit order curve would also be an option.

⁴⁸ Until additional VRE capacity reaches end of its lifetime and higher marginal prices are allowed for lower demand because of the increased scarcity (further reduction in the capability to serve the load).

⁴⁹ i.e., that low marginal costs of VRE means extremely cheap electricity will be available under the wholesale market.

⁵⁰ Imaginary in the sense of not looking at the life-cycle consequences, balancing these high revenues with the periods of lower than needed revenues: Under marginal pricing mechanisms applied to a RE-based power system excess revenues of inframarginal plants at some points in time and missing money issues at other points in time are two sides of the same coin, which makes it socio-politically complex to manage.

⁵¹ The greater the demand elasticity, the less the price oscillation and the greater the served demand oscillation.

Figure 7 Marginal pricing market operating in a VRE power system (simplified)

Situation after completing the transition when demand is met by enough VRE capacity (A); Situation with scarcity of VRE capacity driven by the incapability to recover costs under A (B); Situation of excess VRE capacity driven by the high marginal prices during the scarcity period in B (A2).



This situation could theoretically be avoided if VRE generators were to bid at their LCOE instead of their marginal cost.⁵² However, owing to the very low marginal cost for these plants, in a market with many participants it might be impossible to guarantee a stable bidding behaviour at LCOE. Indeed, once a VRE plant is built, owing to its low OPEX, owners would prefer to be included in the market clearing even at prices below LCOE than to be left out of the dispatch and receive no revenue at all. Hence, generators – knowing they would be left out of dispatch at any point in time because of their higher LCOE – would have a strong incentive to offer bids below their LCOE. Since all VRE generators share the characteristic of extremely low OPEX, this behaviour would trigger a 'race to the bottom'⁵³ with all VRE generators bidding at their O&M costs and hence recovering the situation presented in Figure 7.

2.5 POWER SYSTEM BASED ON VRE (MORE NUANCED)

A power system based on renewables is more complex than what has just been described.

Indeed, for a power system based on VRE to work, flexibility is a fundamental pillar. In such a power system, flexibility would be supplied by dispatchable renewable generation (*i.e.* hydro with reservoirs, CSP, biomass and geothermal power), as well as other flexibility resources (such as demand-side response, storage and energy-system integration).

Under the current wholesale power market based on marginal pricing, both VRE bulk electricity generation and flexibility would be procured simultaneously using the same mechanism. Figure 8 presents a graphical representation of this arrangement.

⁵² The LCOE bid would have to be a dynamic LCOE modified over time with the forecasts of curtailment along the lifetimes of the plants. Bidding at the LCOE thus construed would be conceptually very similar to the long-term procurement of renewables (LT-RE) from the proposed dual procurement structure (for instance, auctioned power purchase agreements), but with all the operational instabilities associated with using an unfit organisational structure (marginal market operated with life-cycle costs).

⁵³ These "race to the bottom" dynamics are already being fostered today in some jurisdictions, even reaching negative bidding procurement - which is absolutely unsustainable.

With very large VRE shares in the system, demand would be often fully supplied by VRE ('A' in Figure 8). The low marginal cost of VRE generators would produce a very low clearing marginal price. All dispatched VRE generators would receive this marginal price, which would not cover total costs (dominated by CAPEX). The non-dispatched VRE, dispatchable renewable energy and other sources of energy flexibility would get no market reward as long as the market is cleared as per 'A'.

At times when VRE generation is reduced (amid low availability of solar or wind resources) or demand increases, dispatchable renewable energy (DiRE) would have to be dispatched ('B' in Figure 8). The higher marginal cost of DiRE would set a higher clearing marginal price (the dispatchability of DiRE increases its opportunity cost). VRE would thus see a differential between this marginal price and its marginal cost, allowing partial recovery of CAPEX. But this recovery is likely to be limited because the volume of electricity dispatched by VRE under these circumstances would be small (*e.g.* due to limited solar or wind resources). The non-dispatched share of DiRE and all other sources of energy flexibility would obtain no reward from the market under these circumstances.

At times when VRE generation is further reduced or demand increases, other energy flexibility resources would have to be dispatched (C in Figure 8). These circumstances would produce a higher marginal price driven by the high marginal cost of the flexibility technologies used for clearing. The differential between this high marginal price and the marginal cost of VRE and DiRE would contribute to their CAPEX recovery. Sources of energy flexibility beyond demand-side management options with low CAPEX requirements would be dispatched only a few hours a year. They would have to be bid out at a marginal cost well above their OPEX in order to recover their CAPEX, which can be high for some of these technologies (such as storage).

In theory, such a setup could work for a power system based on renewables, just as today's marginal pricing markets have worked during the fossil fuel era, though the fact that cost recovery would be achieved in very small windows of time would likely trigger instability. Yet the fundamental misalignment embedded in this scheme – procuring two very different products (VRE bulk generation and flexibility⁵⁴) under one common procurement mechanism based on marginal pricing – could be problematic, potentially evolving into issues of power system adequacy and reliability.⁵⁵

The socio-political dynamics triggered by a large difference in the marginal cost of the technologies participating in this marginal pricing market would be on full display, as technologies with low marginal cost (such as VRE) are compensated at a very high marginal price whenever flexibility resources need to be dispatched. The perceived risks of these socio-political dynamics would likely push up finance costs, leading to underinvestment (with the attendant gap in system adequacy) and higher overall electricity costs.

This misalignment would affect both VRE generation and sources of energy flexibility, since using a single structure to procure these two very different products makes it impossible to honour either one properly. Hence multiple transition barriers could be expected, with important feedback loops, ultimately resulting in lower deployment of VRE and energy flexibility than required (the lack of adequate energy flexibility resources would further hinder VRE deployment).

The operation of the system illustrated in Figure 8 is rather similar to the one that is being experienced in 2022 as a consequence of high natural gas prices (see Figure 4, Figure 5), with the high difference in marginal costs of the technologies participating in the wholesale market driving the resulting dynamics.⁵⁶ As a consequence of poor understanding and miscommunication regarding how the marginal market works, the large difference in marginal cost between VRE and fossil fuel-based generation (2022 with high natural gas prices) in Figure 4, or VRE and flexibility resources in Figure 8, is likely to trigger a negative social reaction (exacerbated

⁵⁴ The procurement structure in this setup is even worse than shown in Figure 8 because flexibility requirements in a renewablesbased power system are call for both upward and downward regulation, whereas Figure 8 captures only the upward case.

⁵⁵ In a VRE-dominated system, the goal of the mechanism used to price bulk VRE generation should no longer be the selection of generators with the lowest short-term operation costs.

⁵⁶ The fact that in the marginal wholesale market all dispatched technologies are rewarded at the cleared marginal price set by the most expensive technology becomes socio-politically problematic when some of the dispatched technologies have very low marginal costs and are rewarded at very high marginal price.

Figure 8: Marginal pricing market operating in a VRE power system (more nuanced)

Most common situation when VRE generation can supply all the demand (A); Situation when meeting the demand requires both VRE and DiRE (B); Scarcity situation when other EF is required to participate complementing VRE and DiRE in order to supply all demand (C).



by inappropriate policy messaging).⁵⁷ What has already been experienced of this dynamic in the wake of natural gas price spikes offers a strong argument for using an organisational structure that it is well suited to the characteristics of both VRE and energy flexibility resources. The dual procurement system proposed by IRENA (2020, 2022a) meets this requirement.

⁵⁷ During the fossil fuel era (Figure 3) this situation did not occur because of the similar marginal costs of all participating technologies (there were no dominant technologies with almost zero marginal costs such as VRE).

3. CONCLUDING REMARKS

The conceptual discussion presented in this technical paper documents why wholesale electricity markets based on marginal pricing do not seem an appropriate organisational structure for renewables-based power systems, during or after the transition.

During the transition, and under circumstances of high fossil fuel and carbon prices, power markets based on marginal pricing may favour investors in variable renewable energy (VRE), since under such circumstances investors would enjoy a large differential between high marginal prices and the low marginal costs of their investments. However, that gap, underpinned by poor understanding and communication about how marginal markets work, can invite socio-political instability, raising perceived risk – and thus financing costs. The net result may be that capacity deployment will fall short of the levels needed to complete the transition and protect the climate. When fossil fuel and carbon prices are low, the merit order and cannibalisation effects will negatively affect VRE developments by raising perceived risks about cost recovery owing to the resulting price depression. On top of that, the reducing revenues for incumbent fossil fuel generation are likely to amplify transition barriers through, for instance, the introduction of capacity remuneration mechanisms that entrench fossil fuel capacity into the system.

Once the transition is complete (yielding a power system based entirely on renewables), marginal pricing could hinder and compromise the reliable operation of the power system. Indeed, the socio-political instability described above and witnessed during 2022 natural gas price spikes will also be at play, since its fundamental driver (a large difference between marginal prices cleared by flexibility providers and very low marginal costs of VRE) will be present. On top of that, under regular operating conditions, merit order and cannibalisation effects will occur, with the cleared marginal price being too low to recover CAPEX and generate profits. The resulting high uncertainty about costs recovery could lead to underinvestment and damage power system adequacy. The very prospect of this situation is enough to introduce barriers that will hinder the energy transition.

These misalignments stem from the use of an organisational structure with one single mechanism (marginal pricing wholesale market) to simultaneously procure two products (bulk VRE generation and flexibility) having very different techno-economic characteristics and procurement requirements.

IRENA's dual procurement proposal – that is, the use of two different but related mechanisms to procure both VRE bulk electricity and flexibility – attempts to address this and other misalignments in the current power system operational structure, advancing the discussion about how to transition to organisational structures suitable for renewables-based power systems.

This technical paper has focused on markets (liberalised contexts) for ease of communication. However, the concepts discussed and the conclusions presented apply in both liberalised and non-liberalised contexts. See (IRENA, 2022a) for a more inclusive discussion.

Completing the energy transition is urgent (IRENA, 2022a). The meagre remaining carbon budget required to keep global warming from exceeding 1.5°C and unleashing climate impacts with disastrous consequences for our socioeconomic systems requires a complete overhaul of the power system in the next few years. Having the appropriate organisational structures in place is a must for any chance of success.

REFERENCES

ACER (2022), ACER's Final Assessment of the EU Wholesale Electricity Market Design, European Union Agency for the Cooperation of Energy Regulators, Slovenia, https://acer.europa.eu/Official_documents/ Acts_of_the_Agency/Publication/ACER's%2520Final%2520Assessment%2520of%2520the%2520EU%252 OWholesale%2520Electricity%2520Market%2520Design.pdf

Agence Europe (2022), "Ursula von der Leyen calls for reform of EU electricity market", https://agenceurope.eu/en/bulletin/article/12969/11 (accessed 30 June 2022).

Aghahosseini, A., Bogdanov, D., Barbosa, L. S. N. S. and Breyer, C. (2019), "Analysing the feasibility of powering the Americas with renewable energy and inter-regional grid interconnections by 2030", *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, Vol. 105, pp. 187-205, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2019.01.046

Aghahosseini, A., Bogdanov, D. and Breyer, C. (2020), "Towards sustainable development in the MENA region: Analysing the feasibility of a 100% renewable electricity system in 2030", *Energy Strategy Reviews,* Vol. 28, Article 100466, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.esr.2020.100466

Barroso, L., Muñoz, F. D., Bezerra, B., Rudnick, H. and Cunha, G. (2021), "Zero-marginal-cost electricity market designs", *IEEE Power & Energy Magazine*, Vol. 19/1, pp. 64-73, https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/9319591

Batlle, C., Wolak, F.A., Ela, E., Strabac, G., Barroso, L., Bakovic, T. (2021), "Choices in Tools and Design. Zero Marginal Costs Electricity Markets", *IEEE Power and Energy Magazine*, Volume 19, Issue 1, January/ February 2021, Choice in Tools and Design.

Bhagwat, P. C., and Meeus, L. (2019), "Reliability options: Can they deliver on their promises?" *The Electricity Journal*, Vol. 32/10, Article 106667, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tej.2019.106667

Blazquez, J., Fuentes-Bracamontes, R., Bollino, C. A. and Nezamuddin, N. (2018), "The renewable energy policy paradox", *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, Vol. 82/Part 1, pp. 1-5, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2017.09.002

Brown, T. and Reichenberg, L. (2021), "Decreasing market value of variable renewables can be avoided by policy action", *Energy Economics*, Vol. 100, Article 105354, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eneco.2021.105354

DBEIS (2022), "Review of electricity market arrangements", Department of Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy, UK Government, www.gov.uk/government/consultations/review-of-electricity-marketarrangements (accessed 20 July 2022)

Energate Messenger (2022), "EU Commission seeks alternative electricity market design", Energate Messenger, 27 June, www.energate-messenger.com/news/223479/eu-commission-seeks-alternative-electricity-market-design (accessed 30 June 2022).

ePrimefeed (2022), "Von der Leyen advocates electricity market reform amid rising gas prices", ePrimefeed, 15 August, https://eprimefeed.com/latest-news/von-der-leyen-advocates-electricity-marketreform-amid-rising-gas-prices/107786/

García-Casals, X. (2011), Energia 3.0: Un sistema energético basado en inteligencia, eficiencia y renovables 100%, Greenpeace, Madrid, Spain, September, http://archivo-es.greenpeace.org/espana/Global/espana/report/cambio_climatico/E30_ideasclave.pdf

García-Casals, X. (2006), *Renovables 100%: Un sistema eléctrico renovable para la España peninsular y su viabilidad económica,* Greenpeace, Madrid, Spain, October, http://archivo-es.greenpeace.org/espana/Global/espana/report/cambio_climatico/informe-renovables-100-cap-t.pdf

García-Casals, X. (2005), *Renovables 2050: Un informe sobre el potencial de las energias renovables en la España peninsular,* Greenpeace, Madrid, Spain, http://archivo-es.greenpeace.org/espana/Global/espana/report/other/renovables-2050.pdf

Global Frontier, The (2022), "Von der Leyen questions the electricity market and aligns with Spain", The Global Frontier, 8 June, https://theglobalfrontier.com/von-der-leyen-questions-the-electricity-market-and-aligns-with-spain/

Hogan, W. W. (2022), "Electricity market design and zero-marginal cost generation", Current Sustainable/ Renewable Energy Reports, Vol. 9, pp. 15-26, https://doi.org/10.1007/s40518-021-00200-9

IRENA (2022a), *RE-organising Power Systems for the Transition,* International Renewable Energy Agency, Abu Dhabi, www.irena.org/publications/2022/Jun/RE-organising-Power-Systems-for-the-Transition

IRENA (2022b), "RE-organising power systems for the transition", presentation (unpublished), International Confederation of Energy Regulators VWG3 meeting, 21 July.

IRENA (2020), *Power System Organisational Structures for the Renewable Energy Era,* International Renewable Energy Agency, Abu Dhabi, www.irena.org/publications/2020/Jan/IRENA-Power-system-structures

IRENA (2019), *Renewable Energy Auctions: Status and Trends beyond Price*, International Renewable Energy Agency, Abu Dhabi, www.irena.org/publications/2019/Dec/Renewable-energy-auctions-Status-and-trends-beyond-price

IRENA (2017), Adapting Market Design to High Shares of Variable Renewable Energy, International Renewable Energy Agency, Abu Dhabi, www.irena.org/publications/2017/May/Adapting-Market-Design-to-High-Shares-of-Variable-Renewable-Energy

IRENA (2014), Adapting Renewable Energy Policies to Dynamic Market Conditions, International Renewable Energy Agency, Abu Dhabi, www.irena.org/publications/2014/May/Adapting-Renewable-Energy-Policies-To-Dynamic-Market-Conditions

Jacobson, M. Z., et al. (2017), "100% clean and renewable wind, water, and sunlight all-sector energy roadmaps for 139 countries of the world", *Joule*, Vol. 1/1, pp. 108-121, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. joule.2017.07.005

Joskow, P. L. (2019), "Challenges for wholesale electricity markets with intermittent renewable generation at scale: The US experience", *Oxford Review of Economic Policy*, Vol. 35/2, pp. 291-331, https://doi.org/10.1093/oxrep/grz001.

Kanellakopoulou, M., and Trabesinger, W. (2022), *The Cannibalization Effect: Behind the Renewables'* Silent Risk, Pexapark, Switzerland, https://pexapark.com/blog/cannibalization-effect-renewables/

Keay, M., and Robinson, D. (2017), *The Decarbonised Electricity System of the Future: The "Two Market" Approach*, Oxford Institute for Energy Studies, Oxford, United Kingdom, www.oxfordenergy.org/ publications/decarbonised-electricity-system-future-two-market-approach/

Keay-Bright, S., and Day, G. (2021), *Rethinking Electricity Markets: EMR2.0: A New Phase of Innovation-Friendly and Consumer-Focused Electricity Market Design Reform, Energy Systems Catapult,* https://escproduction-2021.s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/2021/09/ESC-Rethinking-Electricity-Markets-Report-Final-Pages.pdf

Nelson, D., Pierpont, B., Goggins, A., and Posner, D. (2017), *Flexibility: The Path to Low-Carbon, Low-Cost Electricity Grids, Climate Policy Initiative,* www.climatepolicyinitiative.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/ CPI-Flexibility-the-path-to-low-carbon-low-cost-grids-April-2017.pdf

Ofgem (2022), *Net Zero Britain: Developing an Energy System Fit for the Future, Ofgem,* www.ofgem.gov. uk/publications/net-zero-britain-developing-energy-system-fit-future#:-:text=This%20needs%20to%20 accelerate%20over,strengthening%20the%20case%20for%20decarbonisation **Peng, D. and Poudineh, R. (2017),** "Electricity market design for a decarbonised future: An integrated approach", OIES paper EL 26, Oxford Institute for Energy Studies, Oxford, United Kingdom, www. oxfordenergy.org/wpcms/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/Electrcity-market-design-for-a-decarbinised-future-An-integrated-approach-EL-26.pdf.

Pototschnig, A., Glachant, J-M., Meeus, L. and Ranci-Ortigosa, P. (2022), "Recent energy price dynamics and market enhancements for the future energy transition", policy brief, Florence School of Regulation, European University Institute, Italy, https://cadmus.eui.eu/bitstream/handle/1814/73597/PB_2022_05_ FSR.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y.

Prospero Events Group (2022), "EU chief acknowledges electricity market needs reform", Prospero Events Group, 16 June, www.prosperoevents.com/eu-chief-acknowledges-electricity-market-needs-reform/ (accessed 30 June 2022).

Ram, M., Bogdanov, D., Aghahosseini, A., Gulagi, A., Oyewo, S. A., Child, M., Caldera, U., Sadovskaia, K., Farfan, J., Barbosa, L. S. N. S., Fasihi, M., Khalili, S., Breyer, C. and Fell, H-J. (2018), *Global Energy System Based on 100% Renewable Energy: Energy Transition in Europe Across Power, Heat, Transport and Desalination Sectors*, Lappeenranta University of Technology, Finland and Energy Watch Group, Germany, www.researchgate.net/publication/329714210_Global_Energy_System_based_on_100_Renewable_ Energy_Energy_Transition_in_Europe_Across_Power_Heat_Transport_and_Desalination_Sectors.

Ram, M., Bogdanov, D., Aghahosseini, A., Gulagi, A., Oyewo, S. A., Child, M., Caldera, U., Sadovskaia, K., Farfan, J., Barbosa, L. S. N. S., Fasihi, M., Khalili, S., Breyer, C., Fell, H-J., Traber, T., De Caluwe, F., Gruber, G. and Dalheimer, B. (2019), *Global Energy System Based on 100% Renewable Energy: Power, Heat, Transport and Desalination Sectors,* Lappeenranta University of Technology, Finland and Energy Watch Group, Germany, http://energywatchgroup.org/wp-content/uploads/EWG_LUT_100RE_All_Sectors_Global_Report_2019.pdf.

Ram, M., Bogdanov, D., Aghahosseini, A., Oyewo, S., Gulagi, A., Child, M., Fell, H-J. and Breyer, C. (2017), *Global Energy System Based on 100% Renewable Energy: Power Sector*, Lappeenranta University of Technology, Finland and Energy Watch Group, Germany, www.researchgate.net/publication/320934766_ Global_Energy_System_based_on_100_Renewable_Energy_-_Power_Sector#:~:text=Technical%20 Report%20%22Global%20Energy%20System,throughout%20the%20year%20and%20more.

Robinson, D. (2022), "Will 2022 be the year for rethinking wholesale electricity market design in Europe?" in "Key themes for the global energy economy in 2022", OIES paper SP 20, Oxford Institute for Energy Studies, Oxford, United Kingdom, www.oxfordenergy.org/wpcms/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/Key-Energy-Themes-for-the-Global-Energy-Economy-in-2022-SP20.pdf.

Robinson, D. and Keay, M. (2020), *Glimpses of the Future Electricity System? Demand Flexibility and a Proposal for a Special Auction,* Oxford Institute for Energy Studies, Oxford, United Kingdom, www. oxfordenergy.org/publications/glimpses-of-the-future-electricity-system-demand-flexibility-and-a-proposal-for-a-special-auction/.

Simon, F. and Kurmayer, N. J. (2022), "EU chief announces electricity market overhaul amid 'skyrocketing' prices", Euractiv, 13 June, www.euractiv.com/section/electricity/news/eu-chief-announces-electricity-market-overhaul-amid-skyrocketing-prices/ (accessed 30 June 2022).

Tidey, A. (2022), "Brussels agrees to 'Iberian exception' allowing Spain and Portugal to cap electricity prices", Euronews, 26 April, www.euronews.com/my-europe/2022/04/26/brussels-agrees-to-iberian-exception-allowing-spain-and-portugal-to-cap-electricity-prices (accessed 1 July 2022).

Vazquez, C., Rivier, M. and Perez-Arriaga, I. J. (2002), "A market approach to long-term security of supply", IEEE Transactions on Power Systems, Vol. 17/2, pp. 349-357, https://doi.org/10.1109/ TPWRS.2002.1007903.



www.irena.org © IRENA 2022